
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - MONDAY 30 NOVEMBER 2020 AT 9.30AM

Venue - VIRTUAL MEETING VIA ZOOM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs A. M. Webb

This meeting may be filmed, recorded or photographed by the public; 
however, anyone who wishes to do so must inform the Chairman and 
ensure it is done in a non-disruptive and public manner. Please review the 
Council’s guidance on filming and recording meetings available in the 
meeting room.

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday 20 November 2020

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


Cabinet
30 November 2020

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 4 - 6
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2020.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2020-21 7 - 14
To receive a report from Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for 
Finance and Growth.

9. PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDERS 
To receive the following reports from Councillor Gordon Bambridge, 
Executive Member for Environmental and Public Protection.

a) Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) Renewal - Thetford 15 - 29

b) Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) – Watton 30 - 38



Cabinet
30 November 2020

Page(s)
herewith

10. BRECKLAND SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive a verbal update from Executive Member for Customer 
Engagement and Member Champion for Breckland Sustainability Strategy, 
Councillor Ian Sherwood.

11. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 4 
January 2021 at 9.30am.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Monday, 19 October 2020 at 9.30 am 
THIS MEETING IS IN LINE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE AND CRIME 
PANELS (CORONAVIRUS) (FLEXIBILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY AND POLICE AND 

CRIME PANEL MEETINGS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2020

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr M. S. Robinson

Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr W.P. Borrett
Miss H. Bushell
Mrs S. Dowling
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Jason Cole - Executive Manager People & Innovation
Greg Pearson - Senior Policy Advisor
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

60/20 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2020 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 

61/20 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Cowen and Hewett.

62/20 URGENT BUSINESS 

The Chairman explained he had withdrawn Agenda Item ‘The Planning 
Register and General Data Protection Regulations’ to a future date of 
Cabinet.  He wanted to ensure that as a District Council it was being as open 
and transparent as possible with applicants, residents and wider community 
and ensure wider uniformity with other councils across the County.

4

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
19 October 2020

2

Action By

63/20 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None. 

64/20 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Atterwill, Borrett, Bushell, Dowling, Duigan, Kybird, Martin, 
Wickerson and Wilkinson.

65/20 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

66/20 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure & Culture informed Members 
that whilst there were no applications to present to Cabinet, there had been 
seven applications received that were at various stages of the funding 
application process.  

67/20 THE PLANNING REGISTER AND GENERAL DATA PROTECTION 
REGULATIONS 

The item had been deferred to a future Cabinet meeting.

68/20 UPDATE ON BRECKLAND SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (STANDING 
ITEM) 

The Executive Member for Customer Engagement and champion for Climate 
Change was pleased to present the report to Members on progress that had 
been made.  He explained that Breckland Council had declared a climate 
emergency in September 2019, and agreed to work towards the Breckland 
Sustainability Strategy with an associated programme of work.  The 
coronavirus pandemic had significantly impacted the original timeframes of 
delivery, however since June 2020 steady progress had been made.  

He highlighted the salient points of the report that included that the Council 
had now switched its energy provider that would save the Council an 
estimated 357.55tCO2 per year.  The Council had set aside a budget of 
£24,000 to help gather evidence to inform the developing strategy and a 
proportion had been used to fund the carbon audit.  A fixed-term Environment 
and Climate Change Officer had been created by the Council to provide 
additional resource to help support and take the agenda forward.  Members 
had been invited to a Members forum on the 9th November that would invite 
feedback and ideas from Members.  The draft strategy would be taken to the 
Overview and Scrutiny for consultation in December with a view for final 
signoff from Council in January 2021.

Councillor Atterwill asked if the change of energy supplier would save the 
Council money.  It was confirmed that the cost was in the region of 0.05p per 
kw/h which would add to what was already paid in region of £800 - £1500 per 
year.  The Council’s total budget for energy provision is in excess of 
£100,000. 

5



Cabinet
19 October 2020

3

Action By

Councillor Atterwill agreed it was the right decision and went onto ask if 
consideration had been given to introduce energy efficiency within Elizabeth 
House or Breckland House.  The Senior Policy Advisor had been in 
discussions with departments across the Council to consider ways the 
Council could reduce carbon and more information on what actions could be 
taken would be much clearer after its carbon audit was completed.  

Councillor Wickerson asked how much of the allocated budget remained and 
if the omissions information would be available at the Members forum on the 
9th November.  It was confirmed that £14,000 remained in the budget.  The 
high-level emissions strategy would not be available for the meeting in 
November but available in time for the Overview and Scrutiny meeting at the 
beginning of December.

Councillor Dowling asked how long the fixed-term Environment and Climate 
Change Officer would be in post for.  The Senior Policy Advisor informed 
Members that the position had initially been advertised for 2-years, but could 
be extended if necessary.

The Chairman informed Members it had been agreed to set up a political 
Oversight Board for Norfolk to provide a strategic direction to consider 
opportunities across Norfolk.

Members noted the content of the report.

69/20 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The Chairman thanked the Anglia Revenues and Benefits team and the 
important role in providing support for both residents and businesses during 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership meeting held 
on 15 September 2020 were noted.

70/20 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 30 November at 9.30am 
were noted. 

The meeting closed at 10.00 am

CHAIRMAN

6



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance and Growth  

To: Cabinet, 30 November 2020

Author: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant

Subject: Quarter 2 Financial Performance Report 2020-21

Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 
of the Council as of 30 September 2020

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and appendix be noted

2) That £90,000 be released from the Inclusive Growth reserve to fund the 2 year fixed term 
climate role as detailed in paragraph 1.6.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 
year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance as of 30 September 2020 for revenue, capital and treasury, 
with the detail being included in the attached Appendix.  The report provides the variances 
against our new revised budget which was approved by the Council in September.

1.2 Revenue

The full year out-turn based on current projections is on budget spend, with a nil overall 
variance.  Appendix A provides details of the large variances, with the main additional 
costs relating to the leisure PFI and lost interest income.  

Our revised budget had an efficiency requirement to meet of £217k, some progress had 
already been made against this during quarter 2 reducing that requirement.  An additional 
Government grant, to help support Councils with budget pressures resulting from the 
Covid pandemic, was announced on 22 October totalling £438k for Breckland.  This 
means we can balance the budget for the current year and have a remaining contingency 
available of £139k.

It is still difficult to forecast accurately in the current circumstances and therefore this 
£139k will be set aside until the end of quarter 3 when more certainty over cost pressures 
will be available.  Dependent on the position we will have options on whether the funding 
is used to cover new costs, or whether we choose to hold it in reserves to cover cost 
pressures next year, or it could be used to reduce the amount of reserves used in the 
current year.  But this decision will not be made until we have more certainty over our 
financial forecasts.

1.3 Capital

The forecast out-turn shows spend of £14,4942k (99%) against the budget at this stage of 
the year, with our larger projects continuing well at this stage, despite the pandemic 

7

Agenda Item 8



pressures.  The full below budget spend of £90k is requested to be carried forward as the 
projects will run into future years, these carry forward requests will be included in the 
budget setting report to Council in February 2021.

1.4 Treasury

The investment interest budget is forecasting below budget income of £51k as detailed in 
the appendix to this report.  This partly relates to external loans to a 3rd party which are 
still expected to be made, but the timing is later than when budgeted.  This means the 
income will be achieved, but will be lower in this year and higher in future years.  
Alongside the reduced interest rate environment we are currently operating in.

1.5 Other Issues of Note

Our Business Rates and Council Tax collection rates have held up well during the first 6 
months of the year, although this has been supported by the various Government 
initiatives such as NNDR Retail and Nursery reliefs, Business grants and Council Tax 
support funding.  There is a risk that these incomes will drop over the remainder of the 
year and significant risks on NNDR income next year if the Government reliefs do not 
continue.

1.6 Climate Change role

In September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency and since then has been 
working toward the development of a Sustainability/Climate Action Strategy with an 
associated work programme.  To date this has been done within existing resources, this 
has highlighted that for the Council to progress this agenda to deliver the outcomes it is 
seeking, it needs to commit additional resource. It is proposed that this is done in the form 
of a fixed term Environment and Climate Change Officer who will progress and support 
the delivery of the programme of work attached to the Council’s emerging strategy.  

A budget of up to £90,000 will be required to support the costs of this role, assuming a 
mid-grade 8 salary for 2 years and associated costs (such as equipment, mobile, etc).  
This can be funded from the Inclusive Growth Reserve which currently has £750k un-
allocated from 2020-21 funds.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the report and appendix be noted.

2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial position.

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the council and allow us to respond 
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

8



In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 The climate change role will support the delivery of the programme of work attached to the 

Council’s emerging sustainability/climate action strategy.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications of 

activities planned or underway. 

5.3 Risk Management 
5.3.1 Financial risks are included within the report.

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those 

variances.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 DMADF – Debt Management Account Deposit Facility
7.2 LIBID - London Inter-Bank Bid Rate.
7.3 MHCLG – Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government
7.4 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Forecast financial report for 2020-21 full year.

9



Page 1 of 5

Breckland Council
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2021

This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.

Section 1 - Revenue

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 Budget
Forecast 
Out-turn

Forecast 
Variance

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost of Services  
1) Strategy & Governance (S&G) 5,712 5,757 45
2) Growth & Commercialisation (G&C) 3,979 4,108 129
3) Place (PL) 7,715 7,999 284
4) Housing Benefits (HB) 623 623 -
5) Total Cost of Services before reserves 18,029 18,487 458

6) Contributions to/from reserves (RES) (1,195) (1,335) (140)
7) Total Cost of Services 16,834 17,152 318

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations (APP) 1,333 1,334 1
9) Government grants (GRA) (7,963) (8,421) (458)
10) Council Tax (CT) (4,238) (4,238) -
11) Retained Business Rates (NDR) (5,966) (5,966) -
12) Total Funding (16,834) (17,291) (457)
 
13) Covid contingency grant funding - 139 139

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - - -

Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2020-21 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor for this year is slightly above the 4% for Breckland staff and around 3%
for Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) staff.  Whilst these values are the forecast, there is a possibility
that as the year progresses staff turnover in the current pandemic situation could reduce.

10



Page 2 of 5

Table 2 - Significant Variances

Cost Centre
Port-
folio

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

1) High/Ongoing Impact

1a) Interest Income G&C (159,071) 81,483

Reduced interest from finance lease income from property tenants with agreed rent 
arrangements.  Interest rates achievable are even less than predicted in the revised budget, 
alongside temporary delays in Breckland Bridge extension which has changed timing of loans 
leading to less income this year although this is anticipated to be received in future years. 

1b) BTS S&G 21,297 51,390
Training service has been paused during the pandemic until at least 31 March 2021 to focus 
resource in other priority areas of the Council.

1c) Legal Services S&G 173,077 42,907
Higher than budgeted external legal fees, due to higher demand for legal advice during the 
pandemic as well as advice on specifics such as property leases and planning enforcement.

2) High Opportunity

3) One Offs

3a) Leisure PFI PL 690,225 170,000

Lost income totalling £94k (after claiming the maximum possible through the Government 
compensation scheme) and potential additional payments through qualifying change in law 
resulting from Covid situation.

3b) Waste Services PL 1,424,912 79,353
Increased contamination and smoothing costs, partly offset by an increase in recycling credits 
for garden waste and sharing salary costs.

3c) Government grants G&C (5,000,903) (458,942)

MHCLG provided a tranche 4 of funding (notified October).  This will be reviewed at the end 
of quarter 3 to determine the best use of any remaining funding once the outcome of 
emerging new cost pressures are understood.

3d) Land charges PL 24,503 (23,073) Higher demand in quarter 2 has resulted in higher income.

3e) Salaries All 1,624,507 (59,857) Vacancies which contribute to the overall Council’s vacancy factor.

3f) Covid contingency All - 139,754
Remainder of grant funding, this will be reviewed at the end of quarter 3 to determine the best 
use once the outcome of emerging new cost pressures are understood.

4) Low Impact

4a) Other All 1,201,453 (23,015) Other small value variances.

5) TOTAL - -

11



Page 3 of 5

Collection Funds

Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account had a residual deficit of £152k overall at the end of 2019-20, 
with Breckland’s share being £16k.  The forecast for 2020-21 is a deficit of £309k with Breckland’s 
share being £31k, however this value is likely to be impacted by any increases in Localised Council 
Tax Support (LCTRS) over the remaining 6 months of the year.

Retained Business Rates
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account had a residual deficit of £60k overall at 
the end of 2019-20, with Breckland’s share being £26k.  The forecast for 2020-21 is a deficit of 
£1,223k with Breckland’s share being £489k.  This deficit is due to the impact of the pandemic on 
business rates income in 2020-21.  This impact is likely to continue into next year but is difficult to 
forecast until the extent of future Government rate reliefs are known.     

12



Page 4 of 5

Section 2 - Capital

Table 1 - Progress against 20-21 approved capital programme

 
Budget  

£

Forecast
Out-turn

£

Forecast 
(under)/overspend

£
Commercialisation  
   Property (Land & Buildings) 159,983 159,983 -
   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 38,550 38,550 -
   Capital grants 3,024,473 3,024,473 -
   Capital loans 386,222 386,222 -
   Not yet released 1,959,323 2,005,860 46,537
Total Commercialisation 5,568,551 5,615,088 46,537
Strategy & Governance
   Not yet released 305,136 192,500 (112,636)
Total Strategy & Governance 305,136 192,500 (112,636)
Place
   Property (Land & Buildings) 67,200 67,200 -
   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 5,047,281 5,047,281 -
   Grants 3,023,339 2,999,347 (23,992)
   Not yet released 573,311 573,311 -
Total Place 8,711,131 8,687,139 (23,992)
TOTAL 14,584,818 14,494,727 (90,091)

Forecast outturn £14,494,727 or 99%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:

Project

(under)/ 
over 

spend
£

Carry over 
to Future

£

Commercialisation
Public Lighting - 101,537 Programme of works brought forward, so above 

budget spend will be deducted from 2021-22 budget.
Air conditioning - (20,000) Await outcome of Worksmart 2020 before committing.
Bridge works - (35,000) Budget is for 2 bridges, works to one bridge will take 

place next financial year
Strategy & Governance
ICT - (112,636) Delays to project spend time line.
Place
Decent Homes grants - (23,992) Project profile updated
Total - (£90,091) = (£90,091) Total

13



Page 5 of 5

Section 3 – Treasury

Security
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.004% 0.056%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity
The Council had an average of £21m instant access cash available during the reporting period, as at 
30 September the balance was £14m.  This was exceptionally higher than our usual requirement of 
£5m due to additional Government grants received held short term to pay out grants in earlier 
months, combined with a lack of available resource to make investments due to other priorities and 
low interest rates making investment deals more difficult.  The DMADF introduced negative interest 
rates for short term investments (0-3 weeks) so alternatives have been found for shorter dated 
deposits and where possible we are placing funds for periods of between one week to one month.  
The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.  The weighted average life (WAL) 
of investments was 26 days.

Yield
Budget Forecast Variance

Interest receivable 2020-21 £254,227 £203,052 £51,175
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.096% 0.641% (0.545%)

The below budget income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which will not be 
made this year due to timing delays. 

Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.

 

20,489,496, 64%

1,000,394, 3%

772,293, 2%

0, 0%

5,000,000, 16%

5,000,000, 15%

banks - UK

Banks - Non 
UK

Loans to 3rd 
Parties

building 
societies

Local 
authorities

DMADF

Counterparty Exposure

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
45% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

14



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Environmental and Public 
Protection and Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

To: Cabinet – 30th November 2020
Full Council – 10th December 2020

Author: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager

Subject: Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Renewal - Thetford

Purpose: The Breckland District Council Public Spaces Protection Order No.1 of 2017 
will expire early December 2020. It is possible to extend the PSPO for a 
further 3-year period before it expires. This report provides the background 
to the PSPO and an evaluation of its effectiveness from key stakeholders. It 
recommends renewing the PSPO without variation.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That members approve Option 2 and agree the renewal of the Public Spaces Protection 
Order in Thetford Town Centre without variation.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 A report of the Executive Member Place and Executive Director Place was made to Cabinet 
on the 11 July 2017 and Full Council on the 27 July 2017. It was agreed to introduce a Public 
Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for Thetford Town Centre. The decision to make this Order 
was reached after consideration of a public consultation on the proposal during April and 
May 2017. The Order came into effect on 7th December 2017 and expires on 6th December 
2020.

1.2 PSPO’s are intended to provide a means of preventing individuals or groups committing anti-
social behaviour in a public space where the behaviour is having, or is likely to have, a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, is persistent or continuing in 
nature, and is unreasonable. The PSPO imposes conditions on the use of the area which 
apply to everyone. 

1.3 A PSPO restricts what people can do in an area and how they behave. As such it is 
important to ensure that any such restrictions are focussed on problem behaviours, are 
proportionate to the detrimental impact that the behaviour is having or could cause and are 
considered necessary to prevent it continuing, occurring or reoccurring. The restrictions and 
requirements included in a PSPO may be targeted on specific behaviours by groups and/or 
at specified times.

1.4 A PSPO can be in force for any period up to a maximum of three years and can be extended 
for a further period of up to 3 years at any time before expiry. The PSPO can only be 
extended if it is considered necessary to prevent the original behaviour from occurring or 
reoccurring. Before extending a PSPO the original Order should be evaluated. To vary the 
Order, for example to introduce new restrictions on behaviour or to extend the area covered 
by the Order, the council is required to conduct further consultation with relevant parties on 
the proposed variation.

15

Agenda Item 9a



2.0 THE CURRENT PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER

2.1 The Thetford Town Centre PSPO introduced in 2017 contains 3 restrictions on behaviour:

 no person shall consume alcohol in any public place, a public place being any place 
to which the public or any section of the public express or implied permission;

 no person shall urinate or defecate in any public place which is not a public 
convenience; and

 no person shall ride upon a skateboard, bicycle or other self-propelled wheeled 
vehicle within the designated pedestrianised zone in such a manner as to cause 
damage to property, or nuisance or annoyance to any person within the designated 
pedestrianised zone. 

The Full Order is included in appendix A to this report.

2.2   The PSPO was introduced following an increase in reported complaints and problems relating 
to street drinking and some street drinkers urinating and defecating in the town centre. There 
also had been an increase in reports of nuisance type behaviour caused by skateboarders 
and cyclists within the town centre. 

2.3   A full public consultation was carried out prior to introducing the Order. The outcome of the 
consultation was:

 95% of respondents had seen people persistently consuming alcohol in a public 
place in the town centre. 73% stated that they had been affected by this issue 
and 95% agreed that Breckland Council should prohibit this activity.

 67% of respondents stated they had seen evidence of people persistently 
urinating and defecating in a public place; 61% stated that they had been 
affected by this issue and 95% agreed that Breckland Council should prohibit 
this activity.

 84% of respondents stated that they had seen people persistently using a 
bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone; 64% stated that they 
had been affected by this issue and 86% agreed that Breckland Council should 
prohibit this activity.     

3.0 EVALUATION OF THE ORDER

3.1 To evaluate the Order and assist in determining whether the PSPO should be renewed a full 
public consultation was carried out during the period 14th October through to 10th November 
2020. The outcome of the consultation was:

3.2 Street Drinking

3.2.1 87% of participants had witnessed people persistently consuming alcohol in a public place in 
the last 12 months and 61% have been personally affected by this issue.  When asked if 
street drinking should be included in the order 92% agreed that this should be the case.  One 
participant even voiced that they have been so badly affected that they have made the 
decision to move out of Thetford.

16



3.3 Public urination and defecation

3.3.1 49% of participants say that they have witnessed people persistently urinating or defecating 
in a public place and 39% say they have been affected by this.  94% state that they would 
like to see this on the order

3.4 Anti-social use of skateboard, scooter, bike and other wheeled vehicles 

3.4.1 89% of participants say that they have witnessed people using a bicycle, skateboard or 
scooter in an anti-social manner and 61% of participants state they have been personally 
affected by this.  90% would like to see riding a skateboard, scooter, bike or other wheeled 
vehicle in an anti-social manner remain on the order

3.5 Proposed area 

3.5.1 A map (See appendix B) and list of streets to be included in the order was included in the 
consultation.  70% of participants agree that the area is sufficient and 20% did not answer.  
Of the 10% that disagree with the area there were a mixture of suggestions.

3.5.2 Of the 10% that disagreed with the proposed area for the PSPO 60% stated that they would 
like to see the PSPO carried out on a larger scale.  Some pointed towards the river and 
Nun’s Bridge, White Hart street and Thomas Payne Avenue, Barnham Cross Common, the 
Abbey Farm Estate, and Tesco car park.  Some requested that the order extend to the 
boundaries. 

3.5.3 Those that disagreed entirely with the order did so because they felt that the area was too 
vast to be policed effectively.  Others voiced concerns that the signage, particularly the ‘no 
urination or defecation’ sign, lowers the tone of the town.

3.6 The specific views of key stakeholders including the Police and Town Council were also 
sought. Their responses suggested that consideration needs to be given to extending the 
Order in relation to the behaviours within the scope of the Order for a further 3 years. 

3.7 Between March 2018 and July 2020 (28 months) there were 198 Breach Reports issued 
relating to street drinking in Thetford Town centre by Norfolk Constabulary. In addition, 31 
Community Protection Warnings (CPW) were also issued with 15 of those warnings 
progressing to Community Protection Notices (CPN). The majority of these CPWs/CPNs 
concerned street drinking. One Criminal Behaviour Order was also obtained by Norfolk 
Constabulary for alcohol related anti-social behaviour. In addition to the recorded 
enforcement data above officers of Norfolk Constabulary will have taken informal action on 
potential breaches of the Order which will not have been recorded (e.g. asking someone to 
dismount from their bicycle who was cycling in the pedestrianised zone).

3.8 Norfolk Constabulary held a weeklong poll over various social media channels week 
commencing 21st September 2020 which asked what residents and other interested parties 
perceived as the biggest issues in the town centre.  The main complaints were around street 
drinking and vehicle related ASB.  83% of complaints related directly to street drinking and 
anti-social behaviour in the PSPO area.

4.0 OPTIONS 

4.1 Option 1: Do nothing, not renew the Order. This option is not preferred for two reasons. 
Firstly, the consultation on the potential renewal of the Order shows public support for it 
continuing and the perception that street drinking continues to be a problem in Thetford Town 
Centre. Secondly the evaluation of the Order shows that the enforcement options provided 

17



by the Order are still being utilised to address anti-social behaviour in the town centre. As 
such, allowing the Order to cease would be going against public opinion and is likely to result 
in increased problems of anti-social behaviour in the Town Centre.

4.2 Option 2: Approve the renewal of the Public Spaces Protection Order in Thetford Town 
Centre without variation.  This is the preferred option

4.3 Option 3: Extend the Order geographically to include new issues or behaviours. This option 
is not legally possible currently. The Council would be required to consult on any increase in 
the scope of the Order. We have not carried out this consultation as part of the renewal 
process

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 The Council is recommended to extend the PSPO. The recent Poll shows that the public 
perception of these behaviours being present in Thetford is decreasing.  

5.2 Street drinking 

5.2.1 In 2017 95% of respondents had seen people persistently consuming alcohol in a public 
space compared to 87% of respondents in the 2020 poll. 18% of respondents in the 2020 
poll say that that they believe the problem has improved, while 37% say that the problem has 
gotten worse.

5.3 Public urination and defecation

5.3.1 67% of the 2017 respondents said they had seen people persistently urinating or defecating 
in a public place.  This has reduced to 49% of the 2020 respondents.  6% of the 2020 
respondents believed that this problem has improved, and 25% believe the problem has 
gotten worse

5.4 Anti-social use of Scooters, skateboards, bikes and other wheeled vehicles

5.4.1 Respondents saying that they have witnessed people persistently using wheeled vehicles in 
a pedestrianised area has increased by 5% since 2017,  84% in 2017 and 89% in 2020.  
Only 1% of the 2020 respondents believe that this issue has improved since 2017 and 51% 
believe the issue has got worse.

5.5 There is also overwhelming support from stakeholders for continuing with the protection 
against anti-social behaviour provided by the Order. However, the data also shows a 
continuing need for enforcement actions both formal and informal under the PSPO and 
continuing reports of alcohol related anti-social behaviour. Based on the evaluation from 
stakeholders there is a risk that these behaviours escalate should the PSPO cease.

5.6 In reaching a decision on whether to renew the Order it will be important to consider the 
necessity of continuing with the Order and the proportionality of the restrictions it contains. 
Some of the responses from stakeholders have requested that the scope of the Order is 
widened to include spitting in the Town Centre. This cannot happen as part of the current 
renewal process since we are required to formally consult on any proposal to change the 
Order. We can later collate the evidence relating to possible inclusion of spitting in the street 
and can decide on review of that evidence whether a public consultation should be 
commenced on extending the Order. 

18



6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 Evaluation of the consultation shows that the perception of the public has improved but that 
the behaviours are still largely present in Thetford Town Centre

6.2 Responding appropriately to the results of the consultation and extending the PSPO for a 
further 3 years demonstrates the Council’s commitment to addressing the concerns around 
reducing and preventing crime and protecting the community and environment of the town 
centre.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, these 
are identified below.

7.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

7.1.1 The introduction of PSPO’s will help protect the natural environment which currently 
experiences incidents of anti-social behaviour.

7.2 Constitution & Legal

7.2.1 The first section of this report has set out the legal framework for creating PSPOs as set out 
in Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 which has been adhered to.

7.3 Corporate Priorities

7.3.1 The recommendations in this report contribute to the following Council Priorities and 
Objectives:

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Work together with partners and local communities to make public spaces cleaner, 

greener and safer
 Work with our partners to reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and 

protect the community and environment

7.4  Crime and Disorder 

7.4.1 Anti-social behaviour covers a variety of unacceptable activities that affect community life 
and the life of individuals and families. The introduction of PSPO’s across our market towns 
has the potential to deliver positive community impact if enforced to their full potential. 

7.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

7.5.1 The two issues that must be addressed for every proposed restriction/variation in a PSPO 
are whether the statutory criteria are met and whether those variations are proportionate. It is 
a question of balancing rights and freedoms of individuals against the needs of the wider 
community. 

19



7.5.2 The formal consultation has evidenced the requirement to prohibit activities that have a 
detrimental impact on the quality of life of the community and will be applied to all. 
Consideration has been given to what activities are prohibited, where the restrictions will 
apply and what times they will apply to ensure that the human rights of individuals are not 
interfered with.

7.6 Financial 

7.6.1 There are no material financial implications associated with this report.  

7.7 Health & Wellbeing

7.7.1 There are no direct implications other than potentially reducing the opportunity for alcohol 
misuse and the possibility of signposting people to the appropriate support agencies and 
services.

7.8 Reputation 

7.8.1 To improve perceptions of Community Safety, the Council needs to address community 
concerns. Not taking any action at all could risk worsening perception of community safety.

7.9 Risk Management 

7.9.1 Key risks have been identified as follows:

1. Public expectations are raised unrealistically, and a subsequent order cannot be 
enforced to the anticipated extent. To mitigate this, the Council will continue to work in 
partnership to ensure available resources are used in the most effective way to tackle 
the issues identified.

2. The potential of stigmatising locations covered by a PSPO is a concern as this may be 
counterproductive in trying to stimulate economic growth into the town centre. To 
mitigate this carefully considered communications are necessary to promote the 
positive impact of any order.

3.  The introduction of a geographically defined PSPO may simply displace problems 
currently being experienced beyond the area of coverage. To mitigate this, 
comprehensive discussions have taken place with Norfolk Constabulary to ensure that 
the geographical area being considered covers an adequate area to address the key 
manifestations of antisocial behaviour. 

4.  There is a risk that certain vulnerable individuals may breach an order regularly and be 
drawn into the criminal justice system. To mitigate this, it is intended to ensure that 
where specific issues are identified, individuals will be signposted to assistance and 
support to address the root courses of behaviour and not simply be subject to ongoing 
enforcement action. It is also worth noting that discharging of a breach via a Fixed 
Penalty avoids prosecution and is not a recordable offence.

7.10 Safeguarding

7.10 Those individuals who may be in breach of a PSPO may be ‘vulnerable’ with their own 
needs. Additional support as well as enforcement may be needed on some occasions.

20



7.11 Staffing

7.11.1 The Communities and Environmental Services Teams has two Enforcement Officer roles.  
These will assist in the enforcement of certain elements of the PSPO.

7.11.2 PSPOs can be enforced by Police Officers, authorised Police Community Support Officers 
(PCSOs), Council Officers and other groups designated by the Council (e.g. Town Council 
Officers and employee’s of Registered Social Landlords).  

 7.11.3 It has been acknowledged that whilst the Council have the legal ability to enforce against 
street drinkers, it is accepted that enforcement against this group carries a heightened risk 
to personal safety and would therefore not be the preferred option.  A breach of the Order is 
a criminal offence and can be dealt with through the issuing of a Fixed Penalty Notice of up 
to £100, or a level 3 fine of up to £1000 on prosecution.    

7.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.12.1 A comprehensive consultation exercise has been undertaken in line with the statutory 
requirements.

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 All Thetford Wards are affected.

9.0  ACRONYMS 

9.1 PSPO – Public Spaces Protection Order
9.2 CPW – Community Protection Warning
9.3 CPN – Community Protection Notice

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656306
Email: Stephen.james@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A PSPO sealed Order 2017
Appendix B Restricted Area
Appendix C Comments from the public consultation

21



22



23



24



25



26



Facilities Management

Elizabeth House

Walpole Loke

Dereham

Norfolk

 NR19 1EE

27

AutoCAD SHX Text
c  Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100019535

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
DRAWING  DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
DRAWING  No.

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
PRODUCED BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
SCALES

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
TITLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
reproduction infringes copyright.    

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
land District Council. Unauthorised

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
thereon are the copyright of Breck-

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
This drawing and the works depicted

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
c

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Rev.

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Tel: 01362 656870

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Fax: 01362 656877

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
PUBLIC SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
PROTECTION ORDER

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
NO.1 OF 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
THETFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
TOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
PRD

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
November 2017

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
THETFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
03

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Statue

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
War Mem

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
TCBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Trough

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
FRED ATTFIELD COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Green Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
River Thet

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Water

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Weir (Dry)

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Weir

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Sluices

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
River Thet

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Sluice

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Little

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Nuns' Bridges

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Butten Island

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
River Thet

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Walk

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Bridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
Little Ouse River

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
Blaydon

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
Tk

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
SAXON BANK



Question 14, 16 and 17 allowed for free text comments on the proposed renewal of 
the Public Spaces Protection Order.   Question with the proposal, 16 invited 
suggestions on areas that should be included and 17 asked if there were any roads 
that should be removed 
Below are is a list of these comments:

Question 14 

 Should be town wide,just pushing out to the estates doesn’t help local residents
 Drinking and defecating along the river areas and including the nuns bridges seating area
 Chuggers - charity collectors with clipboards trying to sign up donators - don't like having 

to run the gauntlet of this when trying to do a simple shop. Religious groups peddling their 
wares - again, I do not like running the gauntlet trying to avoid them all the time

 I live on White Hart Street and experience daily issues with street drinking and urination 
into and around my driveway. It’s pretty upsetting as it is almost unstoppable and I’m 
planning to move away from Thetford in the spring as a result of the confrontation this 
causes. Please can I ask that Thomas Payne Avenue is also included, it’s a small cut 
through from White Hart Street and due to it’s secluded nature, one of the more affected 
areas.

 The appearance on the signs of the "No urinating or defecating" severely lowers the tone 
of the area. People should not need to be told that these activities are not permitted. I 
understand that if they are not listed on the signs, then they cannot be enforced as part of 
the PSPO. However, I assume there are already laws that could be used against 
offenders in this area, and I think the added burden of using them is a price worth paying 
in order to avoid having "No urinating or defecating" removed from the signs. I believe 
that technically the alcohol consumption ban also affects the green in front of The Light, 
which has been used as a seating area for the establishments nearby. Does this area 
need to be excluded from the PSPO, or does it need to be formally incorporated into the 
licensed premises of one of the licence-holders (if it hasn't been already)?

 Signs up everywhere saying “no defecation” with pictures of people defecating are 
disgusting and lower the image and feel of the town. Plus someone who has decided to 
defecate is unlikely to be put off by a sign!

 Every morning toilet issues in shop doorway where I work and the staff had to clean it up 
each time not very nice for us to do getting fed up with this .

 Drinking and cycle riding in the Thetford center area. Drinking is a serious concern 
around the betting shop areas and public open spaces adjacent to the rivers.

 I don't feel the issue is all skateboard, bike riders .. we ride bikes with my young children 
and always give space ... I think there a few types of people that don't do this and that's 
the issue rather than all bike riders

 I don't believe skateboard, bikes etc are the issue.... I think there are certain people using 
these that are the issue. I'm a bike rider with my young children and we give people 
space and do not affect anyone

 I agree with the proposal,but would like it Town Wide not just town centre
 Unfortunately I think the town is dying out over COVID. We should spend more time 

attracting more business. I have seen less streets drinking
 People congregating on Butten Island around Duleep Sing statue, rubbish being left 

which I used to clear away, need bin by river near old courthouse by bench.
 Drug abuse by the river
 Station Road, opposite the old Candy Shop. There are always drunks drinking there 

despite the current order. What is the point of the order if nothing is done about the 
drunks?

 This whole exercise is completely pointless if it is not vigorously enforced by the police - 
unless they will properly commit to no-nonsense enforcement, then it's a waste of time.

28



 Street drinking. 1.5 years. I see the same group of drinkers every morning as I walk home 
from work. (I work nights) I find it very disconcerting to see men getting drunk at 7am!

Question 16 

 

 All in Thetford
 Nuns bridges area   
 Thomas Payne Avenue
 The western half of Abbey Meadows, School Plane, the area around Ford Meadow and 

the small BTO car park (both sides of the river) at the north-eastern end of Barnham 
Cross Common.

 All areas of Thetford, including all estates
 Town wide
 All of Abbey Farm estate
 Should be extended to cover the carpark outside Tesco Express on Norwich Road

Question 17

    

 None, I actually believe it should cover the whole of Thetford. Why would drinking, 
urination and defication be desirable anywhere?

 There is a ridiculously large area which cannot be adequately policed. Attention 
should focus on provision of public conveniences.

 Butter island they go there anyway.

29



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Environmental and Public 
Protection and Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

To: Cabinet – 30th November 2020
Full Council – 10th December 2020

Author: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager

Subject: Public Spaces Protection Order - Watton

Purpose: To review the existing Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) in Watton 
with regard to creating a new PSPO

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members approve Option 2 and agree to proceed with the implementation of a new 
PSPO for the restricted area (Appendix A) prohibiting the following activities:

a) Consumption of alcohol in a public place
b) Urination and defection in a public place

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 introduced new powers to tackle 
anti-social behaviour, one of which being the power to implement Public Spaces Protection 
Orders. Only a local authority can make a PSPO in respect of a public place within its area.

1.2 These orders are designed to stop anti-social behaviour being committed in a public place. 
It can be used to deal with existing problems and problems that are likely to arise in the 
future.    

1.3 The Council may make an Order if they are satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that the 
following two conditions are met:

 
First condition

 Activities carried out in a public place in the local authority’s area have a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality or

 It is likely that the activities will be carried out in a public place within the area that 
will have such an effect

Second condition
           The effect or likely effect of the activities:

 Is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature
 Is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable and
 Justifies the restrictions imposed

1.4  The Order identifies the public spaces affected as the ‘restricted area’ and can:

 Prohibit specific things from being done in the restricted area
 Require specific things to be done by persons carrying out specific activities in the 

restricted area

30

Agenda Item 9b



 Or both

The only prohibitions or requirements that can be imposed are ones that are reasonable to 
impose in order to:

 Prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring
 Reduce the detrimental effect or reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence, and 

recurrence.

1.5 The Act states that ‘necessary consultation’ must be undertaken before a Public Spaces 
Protection Order is introduced. The Act defines this as consulting with:

 The Chief of Police for the restricted area
 The Police and Crime Commissioner
 Whatever community representatives the local authority thinks is appropriate
 As far as is practicable, the owner or occupier of the land

2 CONSULTATION 

2.1 To evaluate the current Order and assist in determining whether a new PSPO should be 
made a full public consultation was carried out during the period 14th October through to 
10th November 2020. 

2.2 Three activities were proposed to be prohibited based on feedback from Norfolk 
Constabulary and Watton Town Council.  These activities were:

Consumption of alcohol in a public place

In regards to the consultation results, 54% of those that participated in the consultation 
stated that they have witnessed street drinking in the area identified on the map, 37% say 
that they have been personally affected by street drinking in Watton.  79% of those that 
participated in the survey agree that that the PSPO should prohibit Street drinking in the 
restricted area shown on the map.

Urination and defecation in a public place

Regarding the consultation results, only 29% of the participants say they have witnessed 
this and 21% have been personally affected.  However, 75% of the participants wish to see 
this added to the order.  10% of participants identified Brandon Road and the alleyways 
leading off the road as a particular hotspot for this kind of behaviour.  

Use of a bicycle, skateboard or scooter in a pedestrianised zone

Prohibiting anti-social use of wheeled vehicles is also a new proposal. In regard to the 
consultation results, 56% of participants state that they have witnessed this, 43% have 
been affected and 65% want to see this added to the order.

2.3 Consultation was also undertaken as to whether the restricted area should be increased or 
reduced in coverage. The restricted area currently proposed is unchanged from the 
previous order.  46% of participants agree that that the area is sufficient and 40% did not 
answer.  Of the 14% that disagree with the area there were a mixture of suggestions.  6 
people requested the area be extended to cover Brandon Road up to the Cranswick Factor, 
expressing frustrations about defecation in and around Brandon Road.  Police figures in the 
last 15 months show 20 reports into the police regarding this area, 10 of which are alcohol 

31



related. Whilst recognising this may be an issue in the area, it would not be possible to 
simply include an amendment to the size of the restricted area within the current proposal 
without carrying out a fresh consultation exercise which would delay the process. However, 
should this area prove to be a continued evidenced problem in the future, then it can be 
added to the new PSPO at any time (with the required public consultation). The legislation 
gives the Council power to do this.

2.4 In addition to the consultation, the specific views of key stakeholders including the Police 
and Town Council were also sought. Their responses clearly supported the making of a 
new order based on the current restricted area and the behaviours identified. 

2.5 In the last 12 months Norfolk Constabulary advise that they have given words of advice and 
confiscated an open vessel of alcohol from an individual in the restricted area on around 
50-70 occasions, and 8 people have been issued a Fixed Penalty Notice for alcohol related 
anti-social behaviour.  However, there is limited evidence of the use of a bicycle, 
skateboard or scooter in a pedestrian zone.  Again, this can be added to the PSPO at a 
future date should appropriate evidence of the issue be collected.

2.6 Should the Council approve the implementation of the new PSPO, the draft order will need 
to be published in accordance with the regulations produced by the Secretary of State.

3 OPTIONS

3.1 Option 1: Do nothing. 
      
3.2      Option 2. Proceed with the implementation of the new PSPO for the restricted area 

(Appendix A) prohibiting the following activities:

 a)  Consumption of alcohol in a public place
 b)  Urination and defection in a public place

4 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1 The Council has a statutory duty to work in partnership with other agencies to reduce 
crime and anti-social behaviour.  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
introduced new powers to tackle anti-social behaviour, one of which being the power to 
implement Public Spaces Protection Orders. 

4.2 The consultation exercise has evidenced significant support from all stakeholders for the 
proposed PSPO to be implemented.

5 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 By going to consultation the Council has ascertained the type and frequency of anti-social 
behaviour that members of the public are experiencing in Watton Town Centre.

5.2 Responding appropriately to the results of the consultation and implementing an 
appropriate PSPO demonstrates the Council’s commitment to addressing the concerns 
around reducing and preventing crime and protecting the community and environment of 
the town centre.

5.3 In order to evaluate the impact the PSPO has if implemented, it is proposed that a 
monitoring group of key stakeholders led by Breckland Council be created.  This group 
would meet at appropriate intervals to scrutinise the data associated with the Order, likely to 
include the number of reported incidents of breaches, the location of reported incidents and 

32



the action taken by authorised agencies.  This would help support any future proposed 
variations to the order as well as assessing its effectiveness.

6 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. Where 
the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these 
headings, these are identified below.

6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
6.1.1 The introduction of PSPO’s will help protect the natural environment which currently 

experiences incidents of anti-social behaviour.

6.2 Constitution & Legal
6.2.1 The first section of this report has set out the legal framework for creating PSPOs as set out 

in Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 which has been adhered to.

6.3 Corporate Priorities
6.3.1 The recommendations in this report contribute to the following Council Priorities and 

Objectives:
 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Work together with partners and local communities to make public spaces cleaner, 

greener and safer
 Work with our partners to reduce and prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and 

protect the community and environment

6.4 Crime and Disorder 
6.4.1 Anti-social behaviour covers a variety of unacceptable activities that affect community life 

and the life of individuals and families. The introduction of PSPO’s across our market towns 
has the potential to deliver significant positive community impact if enforced to their full 
potential. 

6.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
6.5.1 The two issues that must be addressed for every proposed restriction/variation in a PSPO 

are whether the statutory criteria are met and whether those variations are proportionate. It 
is a question of balancing rights and freedoms of individuals against the needs of the wider 
community. 

6.5.2 The formal consultation has evidenced the requirement to prohibit activities that have a 
detrimental impact on the quality of life of the community and will be applied to all. 
Consideration has been given to what activities are prohibited, where the restrictions will 
apply and what times they will apply in order to ensure that the human rights of individuals 
are not interfered with.

6.6        Financial 
6.6.1 There are no material financial implications associated with this report. It will be necessary 

to purchase signage and pay for an advertisement in the national paper.  It is unlikely that 
costs would exceed an amount of £1500 to £2000.

33



6.7 Health & Wellbeing
6.7.1 There are no direct implications other than potentially reducing the opportunity for alcohol 

misuse and the possibility of signposting people to the appropriate support agencies and 
services.

6.8 Reputation 
6.8.1 To improve perceptions of Community Safety, the Council needs to address community 

concerns. Not taking any action at all could risk worsening perception of community safety.

6.9 Risk Management 
6.9.1 Key risks have been identified as follows:

1. Public expectations are raised unrealistically and a subsequent order cannot be enforced to 
the anticipated extent. To mitigate this, the Council will continue to work in partnership to 
ensure available resources are used in the most effective way to tackle the issues 
identified.

2. The potential of stigmatising locations covered by a PSPO is a concern as this may be 
counterproductive in trying to stimulate economic growth into the town centre. To mitigate 
this carefully considered communications are necessary to promote the positive impact of 
any order.

3. The introduction of a geographically defined PSPO may simply displace problems currently 
being experienced beyond the area of coverage. To mitigate this, discussions have taken 
place with Norfolk Constabulary to ensure that the geographical area being considered 
covers an adequate area to address the key manifestations of antisocial behaviour. 

4. There is a risk that certain vulnerable individuals may breach an order regularly and be 
drawn into the criminal justice system. To mitigate this, it is intended to ensure that where 
specific issues are identified, individuals will be signposted to assistance and support to 
address the root courses of behaviour and not simply be subject to ongoing enforcement 
action. It is also worth noting that discharging of a breach via a Fixed Penalty avoids 
prosecution and is not a recordable offence.

6.10   Safeguarding
6.10.1 Those individuals who may be in breach of a PSPO may be ‘vulnerable’ with their own 

needs. Additional support as well as enforcement may be needed on some occasions.

6.11 Staffing 
6.11.1 The Communities and Environmental Services Teams has two Enforcement Officer roles.  

These could assist in the enforcement of certain elements of the PSPO.

6.11.2 PSPOs can be enforced by Police Officers, authorised Police Community Support Officers 
(PCSOs), Council Officers and other groups designated by the Council (e.g. Town Council 
Officers and employee’s of Registered Social Landlords).  

6.11.3  It has been acknowledged that whilst the Council have the legal ability to enforce against 
street drinkers, it is accepted that enforcement against this group carries a heightened risk 
to personal safety and would therefore not be the preferred option.  A breach of the Order is 
a criminal offence and can be dealt with through the issuing of a Fixed Penalty Notice of up 
to £100, or a level 3 fine of up to £1000 on prosecution.    

34



6.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
6.12.1 A comprehensive consultation exercise has been undertaken in line with the statutory 

requirements. For completeness, additional ‘free text’ comments are also recorded 
(Appendix B).

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
7.1 All Watton Wards are affected.

8.0 ACRONYMS 
8.1 PSPO – Public Spaces Protection Order

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve James, Community & Environmental Services Manager 
Telephone Number: 01362 656306
Email: Stephen.james@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision: NO

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Restricted Area
Appendix B Free text comments from the consultation

35



36



Question 14, 16 and 17 allowed for free text comments on the proposed renewal of 
the Public Spaces Protection Order.   Question with the proposal, 16 invited 
suggestions on areas that should be included and 17 asked if there were any roads 
that should be removed 
Below are is a list of these comments:

Question 14

 Idiot on electric scooter on the road and on pavement going approx 25mph with no 
helmet for last few weeks. People drinking near cattle cage and leaving rubbish 
everywhere. People drinking down church walk. Smells, not good with kids around. 
Could also prohibit people parking in high street where they shouldn’t it’s dangerous 
and I’ve seen several brawls where people pull out and other party is not happy 
about it.

 Drinking and Urinating in the street, not been an issue as its been kept up with. Its 
not affected me.

 Gathering (groups bigger than 6), social distancing. Since restrictions due to Covid 
19 Have stop using areas - mainly high street. Found alternative routes.

 I have witnessed on multiple occasions people consuming alcohol in the streets, as 
well as people riding bicycles on various streets and pavements etc. and my children 
were almost sent flying by one individual. I have heard/read reports of people 
defecating down alley ways down Brandon Rd enroute to Cranswick

 Alcohol consumption.... ongoing
 We've have & still do get many people deficating in all places along the Brandon Rd 

between the roundabout and Cranswick, people's gardens behind wall's with the hot 
spots being public footpaths, this problem has affected many residents over the 
years & local authorities have tried to work with Cranswick to resolve the issues it's 
not just fouling its also drinking alcohol, smoking drug's as well as the constant litter 
local people have to contend with. Given the current situation with Covid-19 fouling, 
drinking & leaving cups beer cans as well as personal ppe ( disposable gloves) it's a 
constant threat to heath, nothing as seemed to work in the past, the staff that work at 
Cranswick don't care about this virus just seeing them walk to work mixing with many 
other households no masks no sense of social distanceing even in local shops many 
people feel unsafe because of this, they live in rented accommodation many per 
household again mixing with all surrounding households people constantly coming & 
going landlands don't seem to care who or how many live in the properties. This is 
just a small market town & one factory with all this is going on it's no wonder the virus 
is spreading like it is nobody ever listened before & I'm guessing nobody will this time 
but this virus can & will affect everyone in some form, lockdowns haven't affected me 
as I'm a key worker supporting the military. STAY SAFE 👍

 Litter, especially broken glass on footpaths, is a problem. This can be dangerous 
after dark or when visibility is poor.

 As a local councillor I have been contacted on numerous occasions about people 
defacating and urinating in the area of Brandon Rd from the Swaffham Rd 
roundabout to Cranswick's factory. this often happens in residents gardens and along 
the bridleway public footpath which lead to Merton. Police , and environmetal health 
officers are all aware of this issue therefore I would be very dissapointed if the 
designated area is not extended along the complete length of Brandon Rd

Question 16
 Muddy Lane Griston Road Stan’s Walk Norwich Road (B1108) to boundary of watton

37



 Brandon Road should be extended beyond the roundabout to go all the way down to 
the Cranswick meat processing factory

 All of West Road needs to be included. I hold regular (pre COVID) litter picks for my 
school and we collect many beer bottles and cans from the whole length of West 
Road, particularly behind the electricity building.

 Extension for Brandon Rd from roundabout to Cranswick factory including public 
footpaths

 All of those listed plus all other residential streets / estates within the Watton 
boundary.

 The Brandon road from the roundabout to the edge of town (industrial estate)
 Lovell Gardens, plus an extension from the Brandon Road Roundabout up to and just 

beyond Cranswick
 The complete length of Brandon Rd up to Cranswick's factory.

Question 17

 Middle Street or a proportion of it outside the Kings Arms. This area could be 
included in their licence as an area that they could maintain and police. This is 
because the Kings Arms has no outside area and now going into a second lockdown 
struggles with outside areas. I also think a caveat should be put on the proposed 
PSPO, so if you and granted a TEN's in this area then that would supersede the 
PSPO. This would be good for events in the town like Summer/Christmas markets 
and events. I think it is also worth mentioning that Middle Street and Dereham Road 
are in Watton Town Plan to pedestrianize.

38


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Quarter 2 Financial Performance Report 2020-21
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 2 Financial Performance Report 2020-21

	9a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) Renewal - Thetford
	Appendix A - Thetford_PSPO_Sealed_Order
	Appendic B - Thetford Restricted Area
	Sheets and Views
	THET 03 rev A
	OVERVIEW



	Appendix C - Consultation Comments  Thetford

	9b Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) - Watton
	Appendix A - Map of Watton
	Appendix B - Consultation Comments  Watton


